## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1243 Lower Tribunal No. 4D03-1954

THOMAS MCKEAN, ET AL.,

Petitioner,

VS.

PETER WARBURTON,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Bruce D. Barkett, Esq.
Collins, Brown, Caldwell,
Barkett & Garavaglia, Chartered
756 Beachland Boulevard
Vero Beach, Florida 32963
Telephone: (772) 231-4343
Facsimile: (772)234-5213

Bruce D. Barkett, Esq. Attorney for Petitioner

#

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner relies upon the following portion of the trial court's order as its Summary of the Argument:

[T]he homestead never enters the probate estate and does not become a general asset of the estate subject to division when the homestead is devised in the will to heirs of the decedent. The Decedent expressed his intent in the residuary clause of his will as to who should received the homestead. Although a specific devise of the homestead is preferred, the general language of a residuary clause is a sufficiently precise indicator of intent to devise the homestead. Estate of Murphy, 340 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1976).

The will in this case does not direct that the homestead be sold to satisfy specific gifts in the event the assets of the probate estate are insufficient to pay those gifts. Therefore, the homestead never becomes part of the probate estate subject to division. In addition, Mr. Warburton [Respondent herein] was not devised the homestead. The only thing he was given was a specific cash gift from the general assets of the estate, if those funds are available to satisfy such gift. The homestead vests, by operation of law, at the time of decedent's death, in the names of beneficiaries who are devised the homestead. There is no authority cited that a cash devisee would be entitled to any homestead protection. Therefore it is

ORDERED AND ADJUGED:

That John McKean, Thomas McKean, Robert McKean and David McKean, the beneficiaries of the residuary clause, are the owners of the homestead by operation of law and that the homestead or its proceeds are entitled to homestead protection, not subject to division to satisfy specific cash bequests or creditors' claims.

(R-68;App. 2)

### **ARGUMENT**

WHEN HOMESTEAD IS DEVISED IN THE RESIDUARY CLAUSE OF A WILL TO HEIRS OF THE DECEDENT, IT NEVER ENTERS INTO THE PROBATE ESTATE AND DOES NOT BECOME A GENERAL ASSET OF THE ESTATE SUBJECT TO DIVISION.

### I. Standard Of Review.

The de novo standard of review governs these proceedings.

The legal issues involve no more than a determination of whether

the issue was correctly decided in the lower tribunal. The de novo standard of review governs review of decisions of law. Execu-tech Business Systems vs. New OJI Paper Co., 752 So. 2d 582 (Fla. 2000). Appellate Courts are not required to defer to the lower tribunal on issues of law. Philip Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice, Section 9.4 (2001-2002 Edition).

# II. The Opinion Below Confused "freely devisable homestead" with "property of the estate".

The court below held:

Because the homestead could be freely devised, it was property of the estate subject to division in accordance with the established classifications giving some gifts priority over others.

The court below then concluded that, because the estate did not have sufficient assets to satisfy the cash bequests, the residuary estate must be divided to satisfy the cash or general bequests, notwithstanding that the residuary estate consisted of homestead property.

The decision below was clearly erroneous. Homestead is simply

not part of the probate estate. This issue has been addressed by

several courts, and perhaps most succinctly in <a>Estate of Hamel</a>, 821

So. 2d 1276 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). In that case, the court examined

the legal context of homestead property and specifically whether

it was or was not considered part of the probate estate. The Court discussed the historical context of disposition of a homestead by will. Prior to 1968 only decedents without children could dispose of a homestead by will. In 1968 the Florida constitutional revision allowed a devise of homestead if the decedent was not survived by a spouse or minor children. Estate of Hamel, 821 So. 2d 1279. The Court described the effect of that constitutional revision and the cases discussing it:

Despite the change in the constitution, Florida Courts have continued to hold that homestead does not become part of the probate estate unless a testamentary disposition is permitted and is made to someone other than an heir, i.e., a person to whom the benefit of homestead protection could not inure. See Clifton <u>v.Clifton</u>, 553 So. 2d 192, 194, n.3 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1989) (noting, "[h] omestead property, whether devised or not, passes outside of the probate estate"); Cavanaugh v. <u>Cavanaugh</u>, 542 So. 2d. 1345, 1352 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (holding transfer of probate jurisdiction to Circuit Court did not change law that homestead is not an asset of probate estate). See also Section 733.607(1), Fla. Stat. (2000)(requiring a personal representative to take control of the Decedent's property "except the protected homestead"). 821 So. 2d at 1279.

In the present case, the lower court overlooked or misapprehended the fact that even though homestead could be devised, it was not part of the probate estate for any purpose.

Even the Respondent conceded that the Appellate Court got this issue wrong. Respondent (Appellant below) filed a Motion for Clarification suggesting that the Court delete from its opinion "Because the homestead could be freely devised, it was property of the estate....." and substitute instead, "Because the

homestead could be freely devised, it was property **subject to**division...".

Either homestead is property of the estate or it is not.

Respondent's position suggests that homestead devised to an heir in

a residuary clause of a will is not "property of the estate" for

There is simply no precedent for this in Florida law, and Respondent cited no precedent below. Respondent relies instead

cash bequests.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The only exceptions to this rule were discussed by <u>Hamel</u>. If homestead is devised to a person who is not an heir it loses its protection. Also, if the will specifically orders that the property be sold and the proceeds be divided, it loses its protection. Neither of these exceptions applies in this case and neither will be discussed further. payment of some estate debts or expenses, but that the homestead still must be divided by order of the Court to satisfy specific

upon precedents which indicate that general bequests must be must be satisfied before residuary bequests; however, none of the

cases involved a residuary bequest which included homestead devised to an heir. (City National Bank of Florida v. Tescher, 578 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1991), does not apply because the homestead protection was waived by the surviving spouse in a pre-nuptial agreement.)

Petitioners submit the reason there is no precedent for the Respondent's position is Art. X, Sec.4, Fla. Const., which exempts homestead from forced sale under the process of any Court, and from the lien of any judgment, decree, or execution except in certain situations not applicable in this case.

The Respondent's position is that no sale is required to satisfy the cash bequests: that the Court should award shares of the homestead property to the cash devisees, without involving the

Personal Representative. 2

That logic is flawed for several reasons. First, any

 $<sup>^2\,</sup>$  The Personal Representative never takes possession or control of the protected homestead, 733.607 (1), Fla. Stat. (2002), and therefor has no ability to divide homestead.

creditor could use the same logic to get around Art. X, Sec. 4;

"Court, do not order sale of the homestead; simply give me an undivided fractional interest in the homestead."

Second, who determines what percentage of the homestead is to

be awarded the cash devisee? Is an appraisal to be done on the value of the homestead, and then a proportionate share given based upon the size of the cash bequest compared to the appraised value? Can the appraisal be disputed?

Third, should a distinction be made between a cash bequest to an heir under the intestacy statute and a cash bequest to a

mere friend? A mere friend's "share" of the homestead could be attached by a creditor of the friend, thus destroying the whole

concept of "protected homestead".

The undersigned believes there are far more issues than these raised by this new concept of homestead being some sort of hybrid asset which is part of the probate estate and which must

be divided to satisfy cash bequests, but which is not subject to claims of creditors. There is simply no precedent, nor any public policy to support, such a radical new direction by the Court. Further, such a decision would violate this Court's mandate in <u>Snyder v. Davis</u>, 699 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1997), that the homestead protections be given a broad and liberal construction in favor of preserving the homestead.

Petitioner notes that this Court has jurisdiction based upon the question being certified as one of great public importance. However, Petitioners suggest this Court has an additional basis for jurisdiction because the opinion below finding that the homestead property was "property of the estate subject to division" expressly and directly conflicts with Estate of Hamel, supra, and the other cases cited therein.

# III. <u>Homestead is Not "Property of the Estate" pursuant</u> to Florida Statutes.

The opinion below did not address Florida Statutes which are relevant to this case.

"Protected homestead" is defined in Section 731.201 Fla. Stat. (2002), as the property described in Art. X, Sec. 4, Fla. Const. "Protected homestead" is not an asset of the estate.

Section 733.607 (1), Fla. Stat. (2002), provides that every personal representative of an estate has a right to and shall take possession and control of the decedent's property, "except the protected homestead."

Section 733.608 (1) and (1)(a) read as follows:

"(1) All real and personal property of the decedent, except the protected homestead, within this state and the rents, income, issues, and profits from it shall be assets in the hand of the personal representative:

(a) For the payment of devises, family allowance, elective share, estate and inheritance taxes, claims, charges, and expenses of the administration and obligations of the decedent's estate."

[Emphasis supplied].

Clearly, the law protects homestead and makes it clear that (a)homestead is not in the possession or control of the personal representative, and (b) homestead is not a part of the estate for the payment of devises. The opinion below did not address these statutes.

The Respondent's position below was that the personal representative is not needed to pay devises -- that the Probate Court should issue an order declaring that the cash devisees are to be awarded a share of the homestead property, skipping the probate process established by statute, and skipping the personal representative entirely. There is no precedent for this position. It is contrary to the Florida Probate Code.

Section 733.805, Fla. Stat. (2002), is instructive as well. Section 733.805 (1) directs the personal representative with regard to the order in which assets abate. It states:

"(1) Funds or property designated by the will shall be used to pay...devises, to the extent the funds or property is sufficient. If no provision is made or the designated fund or property is insufficient, the funds and property of the estate shall be used for these purposes...."

[Emphasis supplied].

Thus, only funds or property "of the estate" may be used to pay devises. Protected homestead, properly devised to an heir pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>Snyder v. Davis</u>, is not an asset "of the estate" and is therefore not available to pay devises.

# IV. The Opinion Below Is In Conflict With This Court's Opinion In Snyder v. Davis, supra.

The facts of this case cannot be distinguished in any meaningful way from the facts before this Court in Snyder v. Davis, supra. In that case there were two specific cash bequests. One was to the decedent's son, and the other to There was no specific bequest of the decedent's homestead; however, the residuary clause left "all the rest, residue and remainder of my property of every kind and wherever situated as follows: all to my granddaughter, Kelli Snyder." (Snyder, at 1000). The Personal Representative sought to sell the homestead to satisfy creditors' claims, "to fund specific (<u>Snyder</u>, at 1000), and to pay the costs of bequests" Kelli Snyder, the residuary beneficiary, administration. asserted that the decedent's homestead passed to her free of such claims because she was protected by Art. X, Sec. 4, Fla. Const. This Court agreed, reversing the Second DCA. This Court

concluded that the homestead's exemption from forced sale inures to the benefit of every "heir" who could potentially receive the homestead property under the intestacy statute (Snyder, at 1005). Consequently, this Court refused to permit the Personal Representative to sell the homestead to fund specific cash bequests.

The Court below attempted to distinguish <u>Snyder</u> by stating that even though it "might have involved some similar facts," the only issue decided was whether Kelli Snyder, as the granddaughter of the Decedent, could properly be considered an heir under the homestead provision of the Florida Constitution.

While Petitioner agrees that this Court granted review in Snyder to answer the certified question concerning the definition of an "heir", the result in Snyder dictates the result in this case because the facts are not materially distinguishable. In both cases the homestead was devised by the residuary clause. In both cases there were two cash bequests ahead of the residuary clause. In Snyder, the Personal Representative sought to pay the cash bequest out of the homestead proceeds, while in this case the cash devisee seeks the same thing. In both cases one cash devisee was also an "heir" under the intestacy statute, and one was not. In Snyder, the Court found that the homestead passed to the residuary

beneficiary because she was an heir, and the result was that the homestead could not be sold or divided to fund specific bequests or to pay creditors' claims. The facts of the case at bar mandate the same result.

In <u>Snyder</u>, this Court not once, but three times made it clear that liberal interpretation to protect the homestead is required: ("The homestead provision is to be liberally construed in favor of maintaining the homestead property,") 699 So. 2d at 1002; ("As a matter of policy as well as construction, our homestead protections have been interpreted broadly,") 699 So. 2d at 1002; and ("The homestead provision must be given a broad and liberal construction.") 699 So. 2d at 1005.

The decision advanced by the Court below represents a narrow and constrained construction, allowing homestead to be cut up and divided to pay cash bequests, even though the will does not provide for such a division, and even though the homestead was left to an heir as defined by this Court. Such a result is not consistent with a broad and liberal construction in favor of homestead protection. Such a result is neither warranted nor desirable.

# V. As a Matter of Law the Decision Below Is Not Consistent With The Decedent's Will.

The Decedent did not leave his homestead to the cash devisees. The Decedent left his homestead to his half-brothers,

through the residuary clause. Florida law recognizes the residuary clause as the only valid indicator of a decedent's intent regarding homestead unless the will specifies otherwise. Further, Florida law has never treated homestead in a residuary devise differently from homestead left in a specific devise.

In <u>Estate of Murphy</u>, 340 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1976), this Court was asked to require that any devise of homestead be by specific devise, and not by residuary devise. This Court rejected that request as follows:

Appellant concedes as much but argues that we should lay down judicially a requirement that any devise of homestead be a specific devise and rule that a residuary clause is ineffective to pass homestead property. Unquestionably, a specific devise is to be preferred, but in the absence of a specific devise, we conclude that the general language of a residuary clause is a sufficiently precise indicator of testamentary intent. 347 2d at 109.

Similarly, in <u>Clifton v. Clifton</u>, 552 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1989), the court found that the residuary clause was a valid indicator of the Decedent's intent with regard to his homestead. At Page 194 the Court stated:

The actual intent of a Testator not expressed in the will itself must give way to the residuary clause as <u>the only valid indicator of the Decedent's intent</u>. [Emphasis Supplied]

In the present case, the Decedent left no indication in his will other than the residuary clause as the only "valid indicator" of the Decedent's intent with regard to his

homestead. The Order below turns <u>Estate of Murphy</u>, and <u>Clifton</u>
<u>v. Clifton</u> on their heads by reversing the presumption of testamentary intent.

The Decedent was entitled to rely upon the law existing at the time his will was drafted in 1995. (R-6-9)(Appendix I)

Further, the decision below differentiates between whether the homestead was devised specifically or by residuary clause. That is also contrary to Florida law. Bartelt v. Bartelt, 579 So. 2d. 282 (Fla. 3d. DCA), was cited by this Court in Snyder v. Davis, supra, with approval. In Bartelt, a decedent who died without leaving a spouse, but with two surviving adult children, devised the residuary estate (which included his homestead), only to his adult son. The daughter received nothing under the will. The issue before the Court was whether the son, as a residuary devisee, was also an heir under Art. X, Sec. 4, Fla. Const., in which case the homestead would be free from the claim of creditors. The Court agreed that the son was an heir and therefore that the constitutional exemption from forced sale existed. The Court also found, at Page 284:

Article X, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution defines the class of persons to whom the Decedent's exemption from forced sale of homestead properly inures; it does not mandate the technique by which the qualified person must receive title. To hold otherwise would discourage Florida residents from making wills and promote the passage of property through intestacy laws.

The technique by which the brothers in the case at bar received title to the homestead -- by residuary clause, rather than by specific devise -- should not interfere with the Decedent's intent that the homestead pass intact, free from the claims of creditors, and free from the claims of the cash beneficiaries. There was no intent expressed in the will that the cash beneficiaries should have priority over the brothers with regard to the residual devise of homestead.

# VI. <u>Title To Homestead Vests At The Time Of Death And Is Not Subject Divestiture.</u>

The trial court, not the appellate court, got it exactly right when it stated, "The homestead vests by operation of law, at the time of the Decedent's death, in the named beneficiaries who are devised in the homestead." (R-68).

This is a correct statement of Florida law. See <u>Estate of Hamel</u>, supra, 821 So. 2d at 1280 (Property rights passing by virtue of the death of a person vest at the time of death.) See also <u>Wilson v. Florida National Bank and Trust Company</u>, 64 So. 2d 309 at 313 (Fla. 1953) (the appropriate time to determine homestead status is at the death of the decedent.)

In <u>Snyder v. Davis</u>, supra, his Court said:

Instead, we hold that the homestead provision allows a testator with no surviving spouse or minor children to choose to devise in a will the homestead property with its accompanying protection from creditors, to any family

member within the class of persons categorized in our intestacy statute. 699 So 2d at 1005

Earlier, in the same opinion, at Page 1003, this Court described the decision in <u>Bartelt v. Bartelt</u>, <u>supra.</u> This Court's characterization of that case indicated that the Decedent "devised his homestead only to his son." This Court made no mention of the fact that the devises in <u>Snyder</u> and <u>Bartelt</u> were by the residual clause.

No court in Florida has ever lumped homestead into the general assets of an estate, available to satisfy prior bequests, simply because the homestead was included in the residuary devise.

The lower court's decision would have homestead devised by a residual clause subject to divestiture if there is insufficient cash in the estate to pay cash devisees. In other words, title to the homestead, and entitlement to the protections of homestead, could not fully "vest" at the time of death of the Decedent, because there would still need to be a determination made as to whether there were sufficient assets of the estate to pay cash devisees. Yet, specifically devised homestead would fully vest

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