#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC04-1243 L.T. NO. 4D03-1954

THOMAS McKEAN and JOHN McKEAN, as Co-Personal Representatives of the ESTATE OF HENRY PRATT McKEAN, II

Petitioners,

v.

PETER WARBURTON,

Respondent.

## ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Troy B. Hafner, LL.M Florida Bar #892955 Gould, Cooksey, Fennell, O'Neill, Marine, Carter & Hafner, P.A. 979 Beachland Blvd. Vero Beach, Florida 32963 Telephone: 772-231-1100

Facsimile: 772-231-2020 Attorneys for Respondent

## **

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

Theory 2. The devise of homestead to general devisees requires an event of abatement under 733.805(1), but the statute's reference to "funds and property of the estate" should not be deemed to exclude the homestead in fulfilling superior devises (as opposed to forfeiture for creditors' claims and expenses, as prohibited by Article X, Section 4(a)).

This is the position apparently adopted by the District Court, as gleaned by the language of its holding and its phrasing of the certified question. Although it is not the theory most favored by Respondent, it is, still far more viable than Theory 1, because the introductory language of the definitional section of the Probate Code (§731.201, Fla. Stat.) would permit homestead to be included in the term "estate" where "the context otherwise requires." §731.201(12), Fla. Stat. Certainly other statutorily defined

terms read the "estate" to include homestead.

"Residuary devise" means a devise of the assets of the **estate** which remain after the provision for any devise which is to be satisfied by reference to a specific property or type of property, fund, sum, or statutory amount. §731.201(31), Fla. Stat.

If homestead were excluded from the word "estate" in this context, then homestead could not even pass by way of residuary devise, which we all know to be incorrect.

The District Court's interpretation also finds greater support in the numerous policy considerations obliterated by Theory 1, such as the testator's intent being paramount and the restraint on free alienation of devisable assets being abhorred. See Snyder v. Davis, 699 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1997).

Theory 3. Fulfillment of pre-residuary devises occurs affirmatively from the testator's stated priorities and long-standing rules of construction, not from any subsequent abatement of an unintended residuary devise. The only role for 733.805(1) is in its ordinary application to erode non-exempt devises as needed for the payment of debts and expenses. Homestead, like all devisable assets, vests only in the actual resulting devisees and is deemed to so vest at the instant of death. The statute's reference to "funds or property of the estate" may or may not be interpreted by this Court to include protected homestead, but because there is no abatement event involved or needed to fulfill Respondent's general devise under these facts, it receives its proportionate share of the homestead either way.

Theory 3 is the one Respondent contends is the most appropriate and most easily reconciled with all other aspects of Florida law (and sensible policy).

The residuary devise in the instant case has no more significance than a devise of assets "to my son if he is married when I die," if the son is not married at the

testator's death. Such a devise does not abate. It simply does not exist because it was subject to a factual condition precedent which did not develop. Compare that conditional devise to the residuary devise in the instant case and in virtually all wills which say, in effect: "If there are assets remaining under the governance of my will after satisfying my prior bequests, then I give such residuary assets to R." This testator lacked sufficient assets to fully satisfy even his pre-residuary bequests. (R-62, 63) Thus, his residuary devise was predefined not to exist because the condition precedent was not met. (R-7) The residuary devise in the instant case does not exist subject to possible abatement. It simply never exists...not tentatively, not conditionally, not permanently, not ever. The terms of the will have already declared the intended result under these facts. (R-7)

Although it is clear that homestead can be devised by the residuary clause, it can only be so devised if the application of the entire will yields that result. Park Lake Presbyterian Church v. Estate of Henry, 106 So. 2d 215 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958), affirms that residuary devisees receive only the "rest and remainder" after fully funding all prior devises. The residuary devisees in the instant case are not allowed to presume that the homestead disposition begins in the residuary clause. See §733.201(31), Fla. Stat. The analysis does not start there; it has only the possibility of finishing there. Under the instant facts, that possibility simply did not develop. (R-63)

Theory 4. The devise of homestead to general devisees requires an abatement from the residuary devise, but 733.805 only addresses the abatement of "estate" assets, leaving the common law rules to govern funding and abatement of non-probate assets, such as protected homestead devised by a will and all living trust devises.

Theory 4, like Theories 2 and 3, is far more viable than Theory 1, and, therefore, warrants consideration.

In the instant case, the decedent's assets were insufficient to fully satisfy even his pre-residuary devises. Despite this deficiency, Petitioners conclude that the testator actually devised the homestead with his residuary clause. They next assert that because the abatement statute refers only to "funds and property of the estate," the non-probate homestead is subject to **no rules** governing the funding and priorities of devises. Even if one accepts Amicus' general view of abatement, this latter assertion presumes that the legislature affirmatively intended, **by its silence** on non-estate assets in 733.805(1), to eradicate centuries' worth of common law governing devises when applied to **non-probate** assets.

However, abundant caselaw declares that the common law persists everywhere not specifically abrogated by statute. <u>In re Levy's Estate</u>, 141 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 2d DCA 1962), states:

A statute will not be held to have changed well settled common law principles by implication, unless the implication of change is clear or necessary to give full force to express provisions of the statute and the public policy thus established. <u>Dudley v. Harrison, McCready & Co.</u>,

1937, 127 Fla. 687, 173 So. 820, reh. den., 128 Fla. 338, 174 So. 729. A statute will not be construed as taking away common law rights unless the pre-existing right is repugnant to the statute. <u>Cullen v. Seaboard Airline Ry., Co.</u>, 1912, 63 Fla. 122, 58 So. 182. Id at 805.

Applying Levy's Estate, if Section 733.805(1), Florida Statutes, addresses only the abatement of "property of the estate," it has its "full force" without interpreting its silence as eradicating the common law order of devise rules for other devisable "nonestate" assets. Surely, Florida law is not devoid of **any** rules governing the disposition of devisable, non-probate property (such as homestead property passing by will and all types of property passing under living trusts). The "public policy" prong of the Levy's Estate test supports this conclusion since one cannot conclude that public policy desires a complete reversal of the ordinary disposition rules that would apply to every other asset (real or personal) in the same scenario.

<del>------</del>

Respondent submits that Theory 3 is the only one which can be fully reconciled with all other aspects of Florida law and appropriate policy considerations as expressed in <u>Snyder</u> and <u>Tescher</u>. Theory 1 is the only one that yields the Petitioners' desired result, but it is the least viable and breeds the most anomalous results.

#### **XI.** Petitioners' Position Leads to Anomalous Results.

It is highly unlikely that Florida testators and their advisors have prepared their wills with full appreciation and awareness that portions of their wills may not be able

to speak to the disposition of one of their most significant assets. The resulting reversal of priorities unique to that one significant asset would be an abomination. Even assuming that such a rule could become well known to Florida testators, or their attorneys, countless scenarios exist in which thorough awareness and planning still cannot solve the resulting problems. Two examples follow:

Example 1. Assume a husband and wife have a combined net worth that will likely result in estate taxes being payable upon the second spouse's death. As is typical for spouses in this situation, their wills provide for a general devise of \$1,500,000 (the current estate tax exemption) to pass to a trust for the surviving spouse's life-time benefit. Such a "by-pass trust" or "credit shelter trust" will capture and utilize the first spouse's tax exemption to avoid estate tax at the surviving spouse's death. In many cases, the value of the home is such a significant portion of the couple's net worth that part or all of the homestead must be used to fund that general devise and not waste the first spouse's estate tax exemption. In such cases, the spouses may, as part of their planning, formally waive the homestead spousal devise restriction so it can be devised to the trust.

Under Petitioners' theory, the decedent's homestead would be unavailable to satisfy that \$1,500,000 general bequest to the "by-pass trust." Instead, it must skip this intended bequest and fall into the residuary clause, causing the valuable tax exemption to be needlessly wasted. This result could ultimately cost the couple's heirs several

hundred thousand dollars in unnecessary estate taxes.

This problem cannot be solved merely by making a specific devise of part or all of the homestead into the by-pass trust because the date of death values of the home and other assets cannot be known in advance. Even changes in a testator's mortgage balance would require tedious and frequent attention in the will. Severe estate tax consequences could result from under-funding or over-funding the by-pass trust amount.

Example 2. Assume a simpler scenario where a testator dies survived by no spouse or minor children and wishing to leave the first \$500,000 of her wealth to her adult daughter, and the residue of her estate, if any, to her sister. If she dies with a net worth of \$550,000, including a home valued at \$350,000 and other probate assets valued at \$200,000, then, under the lower court's ruling, her daughter can only receive \$200,000 of the intended \$500,000. Her more valuable asset, the home, is forced to pass to her sister under the residuary clause. Her daughter consequently receives only 40% of what she intended (\$200,000 instead of \$500,000); and her sister receives 700% of what she intended (\$350,000 instead of \$50,000). If, in trying to plan around this problem, she specifically devises the homestead to her daughter, then she can at least be assured her daughter will receive the value of that asset, if still owned. She cannot, however, know that its value will be sufficient to meet her intended total or that it will not exceed it. This new restriction on the freedom to devise homestead like any

other devisable asset would present an unfair obstacle course to Florida residents planning for the disposition of their property.

These situations, and countless others, would, at best, force Florida testators into tortured exercises of hypothetical valuations, contingent formula provisions and other manipulations just to dodge homestead restrictions that were never intended to exist outside the context of a surviving spouse or minor child.

## XII. Land Title Concerns Loom Large.

No doubt, numerous Orders Determining Homestead Status of Real Property have already been issued by probate courts throughout Florida affirming the vesting of title in homestead property to general, pre-residuary devisees. Since there is no statutory, constitutional or caselaw devise restriction (in the absence of a spouse or minor child), a new decision holding that a testator cannot pass homestead property by general devise would undermine title for such properties which have already been so transferred, and even re-transferred to subsequent bona fide purchasers.

Fortunately, regardless of the Court's resolution of the instant issue, <u>Florida</u> Forest and Park Service v. Strickland, 18 So. 2d 251 (Fla. 1944), affirms this Court's ability to provide that its decision shall apply only **prospectively**. <u>See also Department of Revenue v. Anderson</u>, 389 So. 2d 1034, 1037 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). Respondent urges this Court to expressly limit its decision to apply only prospectively so as not

to unravel or impair those titles already confirmed under previous court orders which may have assumed a contrary position. There will, no doubt, be many such instances whichever way the Court rules here.

XIII. <u>Snyder V. Davis</u> Is Not Dispositive Because Its Holding Is Expressly Limited to the Issue of Whether Creditors Can Reach the Homestead Property When Devised to an "Heir" Other Than the Would-Be Intestate Heir.

The facts in Snyder v. Davis, 699 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1997), are similar to the instant case as there are two general devises (although very nominal) of \$2,000 and \$3,000, respectively, followed by the residue. In <u>Snyder</u>, the personal representative argued that, because the residuary devisee was not the particular individual who would take under intestacy, she was not an "heir" and the homestead should be thus fully subject to probate and available to satisfy both the claims of the creditors and the bequests of the pre-residuary devisees. <u>Id</u> at 1001. Neither party made any distinction between the rights of the general devisees and the estate's creditors, although the law clearly makes this distinction. Art. X, §4(a), Fla. Const.; Estate of Murphy, 340 So. 2d 107,109 (Fla. 1976); Donly v. Metropolitan Realty & Investment Co., 71 Fla. 644, 72 So. 178 (1916). The general devisees in <u>Snyder</u>, for \$2,000 and \$3,000, respectively, did not become parties or assert any rights; and the case proceeded at the circuit and appellate court levels on the undisputed assumption that, unless the residuary devisee was held to be a non-heir, the homestead passed to that residuary devisee. <u>See</u> Petition to Determine Homestead Property from the <u>Snyder</u> case, noting particularly items 8, 12 and the prayer for relief, as well as the omission of any mention of the pre-residuary devises in the Petition. (R-81-83).

The Opinions of the Second District and of this Court in <u>Snyder</u> never considered whether a general devisee, **as distinguished from the personal representative and probate creditors**, may receive freely devisable homestead to fulfill an unfunded devise. In fact, the Second District had ruled in error that the residuary beneficiary was not even an "heir" and that the property should be sold to satisfy even the creditors. <u>Davis v. Snyder</u>, 681 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), <u>reversed</u>, 699 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1997). The Second District then certified to this Court the following succinct question:

WHETHER ARTICLE X, SECTION 4, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION EXEMPTS FROM FORCED SALE A DEVISE OF HOMESTEAD BY A DECEDENT NOT SURVIVED BY A SPOUSE OR MINOR CHILD TO A LINEAL DESCENDANT WHO IS NOT AN HEIR UNDER THE DEFINITION IN SECTION 731.201(18), FLORIDA STATUTES (1993). <u>Id</u>.

This Court then further confirmed the limited scope of its ruling in **Snyder**, stating:

There is <u>no dispute</u> in this case that Betty Snyder's home was homestead property for the purpose of distribution or **that said property was properly devised in the residuary clause** of her will. The <u>sole issue</u> is whether Kelli Snyder, as **the granddaughter**, may be properly considered an heir under the homestead provision, qualifying her for protection from the forced sale. <u>Snyder v. Davis</u>, 699 So. 2d 999, 1000 (Fla. 1997). (Emphasis added.)

The <u>Snyder</u> holding is therefore limited to the certified question and cannot stand as an endorsement of the stipulations and assumptions upon which the litigants arrived before the Court. For a prior decision to control a subsequent case, the issues presented by the latter case must have been raised, considered, and determined in the former one. <u>Twyman v. Roell</u>, 123 Fla. 2, 166 So. 215 (1936). Thus, as stated in <u>City of Miami v. Stegemann</u>, 158 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963), "no decision is authority on any question not raised and considered **although it may have been involved in** the facts of the case." (Emphasis added.) Courts will not rule on matters stipulated by the parties or otherwise not in dispute. <u>State v. DuBose</u>, 99 Fla. 812, 128 So. 4 (1930).

The mere mention of these two nominal, unfunded, general devisees does not expand the scope of the <u>Snyder</u> decision. The losing party in <u>Snyder</u> was the personal representative who was seeking statutorily prohibited custody and control of the homestead for all general probate purposes. <u>Snyder</u>, 699 So. 2d at 1000. He was not a champion for the separate entitlements of the unfunded general devisees.

# Clarification Suggestion Made to District Court

On Motions for rehearing and clarification following issuance of the District Court's initial Opinion, Respondent proposed extensive language for the Court's

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